## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA (Before a Referee)

THE FLORIDA BAR,

Complainant,

-vs-

Case No. 94,573 T.F.B. No. 99-10,581(6E)

JOE RAWLS WOLFE,

Respondent.

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF REQUEST FOR REVIEW OF THE FINDINGS OF FACT AND RECOMMENDATION OF REFEREE DATED SEPTEMBER 16, 1999

BRIEF FILED FOR PETITIONER, JOE RAWLS WOLFE

Roland D. Waller, Esquire Florida Bar No. 139706 Waller & Mitchell 5332 Main Street New Port Richey, Florida 34652

#

### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. IS JOE R. WOLFE FIT TO RESUME THE PRACTICE OF LAW?
- 2. IS THE REFEREE'S RECOMMENDATION BASED ON FACTS THAT ARE NOT SUPPORTED BY THE RECORD?

3. HAS THE REFEREE CREATED AN UNSUPPORTED LITMUS TEST OF REQUIRED COMMUNITY WORK AND PRO BONO WORK IN ORDER TO SHOW UNIMPEACHABLE CHARACTER?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Joe Rawls Wolfe, hereinafter referred to as "Wolfe", was suspended from the practice of law on November 16, 1995 for a period of 3 years, with provision for reinstatement in 2.5 years if \$300,000 was paid to the Baumgardners.

Wolfe petitioned this Court, on December 24, 1998, for reinstatement to The Florida Bar pursuant to Rule 3-7.10 Rules of Discipline.

Under the Disciplinary Rules, Anthony S. Battaglia was the Florida Bar designated reviewer. Anthony S. Battaglia did not object to the reinstatement of Wolfe, subject to certain restrictions on his trust account. (See letter, item 1 in Appendix)

The Florida Bar did not support the reinstatement of Wolfe. Discovery disclosed that the Florida Bar objections to Wolfe's reinstatement were:

(1) The beneficiaries of the Baumgardner Trust, one or more of which were the complaining parties that resulted in the investigation of and suspension of Wolfe, are opposed to Wolfe's reinstatement.

(2) Wolfe owes various creditors who are shown in his Chapter 11 Bankruptcy and has certain real property which could be sold and the proceeds used to partially pay his creditors. Wolfe, with the approval of the creditors, intends to use some

of the proceeds from one sale of assets to develop another piece of real property Wolfe owns. This may create a condition which may be ripe for future trust fund violations. (See Wolfe request for Admissions dated June 3, 1999, item 2 in Appendix)

The Florida Bar made no objection to and stipulated into evidence the Petition For Reinstatement and the attached 24 letters. The report of The Florida Bar investigation of Wolfe's Petition verified and confirmed the position, statements and opinions of the persons whose letters were attached to the Petition For Reinstatement. This report and 24 letters were admitted into evidence. (Order on Status Conference, item 3 in Appendix)

The Referee limited the evidence to be received concerning William Baumgardner et al. vs. Joe R. Wolfe, to the length of litigation, attorney fees, verdict, notices of appeal, the ultimate resolution of the matter, and brief evidence as to the parties feelings regarding the resolution of the matter and offers of settlement made by Joe R. Wolfe to the Baumgardners. (Order on Status Conference, item 3 in Appendix)

A hearing was held by the Referee on August 19, 1999. After announcing her ruling on September 1, 1999, the Referee's written report of September 16, 1999 was sent to the Supreme Court of Florida.

The Referee found that "the Petitioner has met the conditions imposed during the period of suspension and the

б

procedural requirement of Rule 3-7.10"( Paragraph 111 A of Report of Referee, item 4 in Appendix)

The Referee at paragraph 111-D of her report states, "There is clear evidence of Petitioner's good reputation for professional ability and of Petitioner's lack of malice and ill feeling toward those involved in the disciplinary proceeding. The Petitioner has made the appropriate assurances as to his sense of repentance and his desire to conduct his law practice in an exemplary fashion in the future." (Appendix item 4)

The Referee found that "Petitioner is not presently fit to resume the practice of law in that he has failed to present evidence of an unimpeachable character. Although Petitioner has testified as to his remorse, he has not engaged in any community work service or permissible pro bono workÿ."(Paragraph 111 H of item 4 in Appendix)

On the question of remorse the Referee stated--"Although his remorse seems sincere, he has not taken any action to restore the public's confidence in him as a trustworthy individual or to recompense the bar for the damage he has done to the reputation of the legal profession as a whole." (Paragraph 111 H of item 4 in Appendix)

"His actions, or lack of action, have demonstrated that he has failed to grasp the moral implications of his transgression; and therefore, prevents a finding that he has presented evidence

of unimpeachable moral character."(Paragraph 111 H, item 4 in Appendix)

Wolfe filed a request for review of the findings of fact and recommendation of Referee.

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

Joe Rawls Wolfe, hereinafter referred to as "Wolfe", was suspended from the practice of law on November 16, 1995 for a period of 3 years, with provision for reinstatement in 2.5 years if \$300,000 was paid to the Baumgardners.

Wolfe fully cooperated with The Florida Bar investigation before and after his suspension. Susan Woodrin, Wolfe's legal assistance since 1974 stated, "He told me to cooperate fully and provide all the information we had to the Bar. He put me at their disposal to answer any question and pull up any information they needed".(R-126-13)

The detailed facts leading to the suspension are set forth in the Conditional Guilty Plea for Consent Judgment.(Appendix item 5)

In summary the causes for the suspension were escrow account violations, escrow borrowing and borrowing of funds by Wolfe's corporations from the Baumgardner Trust while Wolfe was serving as trustee.

Wolfe's Petition for Reinstatement was accepted by The Florida Bar after an investigation and contains extensive detail on Wolfe's activities since his suspension, as well as 24 letters about Wolfe.(The petition is item 6 of the Appendix.)(The letters are item 12 of the Appendix.)

The record contains extensive facts relating to the question

of Wolfe's fitness to practice law and his unimpeachable character. In summary the record shows the following facts:

Attorney Robert C. Burke, Jr. has known Joe Wolfe as a lawyer since 1974, (R-87-19) as co-counsel and adversarial, and his legal ability is superb. (R-88-7) It is superb both from an intellectual, and educational standpoint and in terms of demeanor, productivity and display of effort.(R 88-6) His reputation in the community is excellent. He was in shock to learn of Joe Wolfe's problems, and " but for this event, I would absolutely consider him to be honest and trustworthy. I've seen him in too many situations, and he has always abided by what was right." (R- 92-4) On being able to practice again in a exemplary fashion Mr. Burke has enjoyed his "relationship with Jody before this matter and would hope to enjoy it again prospectively." (R-92-20)

Attorney Charles F. Robinson has an extensive record of Bar leadership (R-101-25-102-6) and has known Joe Wolfe as a lawyer since 1967. He has dealt with Joe Wolfe on real estate and getting help on tax matters. (R-103-2). Joe Wolfe's reputation on professional ability is outstanding. (R-103-20) He has an outstanding mind and is the kind of lawyer that doesn't exist in as many offices as we need them to. (R105-15) "The idea of not taking a retainer because he feels there's mutual trust between lawyer and client, that's just a Jody kind of thing."(R-105-20) He remembers when the Clearwater Bar was looking for a place and

Jody, on behalf of the family, made an offer that was almost free for a site. (R-106-16) Mr. Robinson's reaction to his problems was absolute surprise and disappointment. Not in character for Jody Wolfe. (R-104-2) "I volunteered to do something like this testimony to help." (R-104-4). "If I didn't believe strongly in his character, then I wouldn't be here." (R107-19). " I would make him my trustee." (R107-20) "The level of trust I have in him should be viewed in a society now where lawyers are not trusted very much by outsiders & lawyers don't trust each other very much."(R-109-1)

Attorney F. Wallace Pope, Jr. has practiced law in Clearwater for 25 years and has known Joe R. Wolfe for 25 years. He worked with Joe R. Wolfe on referred litigation and "have always known him to be a highly competent, professional attorney who represents his clients with great skill and determination." (Exhibit 8/7 attached to Petition) " Mr. Wolfe's action with respect to the Baumgardner Trust were out of character. He has represented to me that he is committed to living up to the standards of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and I believe him." (Exhibit 8/7 attached to Petition.)

Susan Woodrin was Joe R. Wolfe's legal assistant from 1974 until his suspension in 1995. (R-125-6) He always put the client's interest first. (R-125-20). He has a knack for seeing the whole picture and can put together solutions that please both sides. (R-125-15) He is as honest as they come, also clients have

told her that. (R-127-19) On his professional abilities, he is brilliant.(R-127-25) "His clients respected him, not only for the results he achieved for them, but for his honesty, integrity and respect for them. During his entire career as an attorney, his actions were above reproach."(Petition Exhibit 8/8-p.2)

Linda Stewart has known Joe R. Wolfe for 34 years. (R-111-17) Her deceased husband was an attorney and she never heard anything negative about Jody, (R-113-3) until he called and told her about a very bad mistake. (R-113-15) "He was held in high esteem and I believe still is." (R-113-24) "I wouldn't hesitate for a moment to turn over all of my affairs to Jody." (R-114-10) If readmitted he will avoid problems and practice law in an exemplary fashion. (R-115-12). "There are so very many people in this world, no matter their profession, who focus solely on money, but Jody is one of those rare individuals who truly cares about people and wants to see them treated fairly and adequately."(Petition Exhibit- 8/1)

John V. Phillipoff is chairman of the board of PCB Bandcorp and has known Jody 25 years. (R-117-8) Mr. Wolfe has always been very respected in our community. Other attorneys and CPAs do not hesitate to consult Mr. Wolfe on complicated legal matters and taxes. On one occasion for my partners and myself he worked out the exchange of a number of properties, and our CPA stood in awe of the 50 page completed package. (Petition Exhibit-8/5) " You might not like the answer to a question you asked Mr. Wolfe but

it was an honest answer and there was nothing misleading in his answer." (Petition Exhibit- 8/5)

Lowrey Whitson has known Mr. Wolfe for about 40 years both personally and professionally. He is aware of Mr. Wolfe's outstanding professional expertise when he represented his father, who had severe tax problems. Mr. Wolfe through hard work obtained good results. He has used diligence in representing Lowrey Whitson in an extremely complicated chain of events and has "given me invaluable insight into my personal tax and business questions." "Mr. Wolfe has always pulled out all the stops to help me, above and beyond the call of duty." (Petition Exhibit-8/2) "It is the opinion of many that attorneys in general are more interested in furthering their own financial well being than they are in genuinely helping their clients. Mr. Wolfe definitely is NOT a member of that class." "He is a great deal more than a highly qualified professional; he is a warm, genuinely caring and concerned friend to all he serves." (Exhibit-8/2)

Lorraine A. Blackwood has known Joe R. Wolfe since June of 1994. She relates an experience of using Joe R. Wolfe in contract work on selling Orlando properties to Asia investors. There was a three day time crunch and a difficult CEO from Korea who had little regard for the legal requirements of Florida. Joe R. Wolfe put his calendar on hold and stood firm with her CEO, never losing his temper, and carefully explaining again and again

why certain things could and could not be done. Joe R. Wolfe contracts and escrow program later protected over twenty investors in securing returns on their deposits. (Petition exhibit-8/3) She was involved in two other cases with Joe R. Wolfe, and states, "it was not only his immense knowledge of the law that impressed me but his thoughtful approach and insight."(Exhibit-8/3) "Joe R. Wolfe exemplifies what I believe attorneys were originally meant to do - counsel, guide, right wrongs, and ensure justice prevails - even if it means not getting rich." "Joe R. Wolfe is not only one of the finest attorneys I have known, but an individual with a certain rectitude and honor that is not often found today." (Exhibit-8/3)

Robert Miller has known Joe R. Wolfe as his attorney for over twenty years. "In every case, he has directed me to the most ethical course of action". "He has handled himself with complete professionalism, unwavering commitment and unparalleled skills." (Petition Exhibit- 8/19)

Frank C. Kunnen, Jr. has known Joe R. Wolfe for 25 years. "In the 25 years that I have sought advice from Mr. Wolfe, I have always respected his legal opinion, appreciated his patience and been overwhelmed with his professionalism." (Petition Exhibit-8/9) Mr. Wolfe has always been highly regarded within our community with respect to his participation within and the moralistic mannerism he portrays. In all the years that I have known Mr. Wolfe, I have heard nothing but positive remarks from

others within our community." (Exhibit-8/9)

George E. Feaster has used Mr. Wolfe's legal and tax services since 1984, which resulted in "a deep respect for his professional abilities." (Petition Exhibit 8/24) He respectfully requested that the Court rule favorably on his petition for reinstatement. "The community and his clients miss his wisdom, expertise and counseling." (Exhibit- 8/24)

Wolfe clearly states that he knows why he was suspended, due to his ignoring the trust and escrow rules and the Baumgardner Trust borrowing. (R-18-8) He acknowledged that his mistakes were tragic and against what he was trained to do.(R-37-14) He states that the suspension was justified and blames himself.(R-21-11) The witness at the hearing stated that he took full blame and had expressed no ill will or malice towards the Bar or the Baumgardners. "He has acknowledged his utter embarrassment and disgrace to me."(R-90-1) He "has expressed remorse and repentance to him." (R-104-21) "I know Jody very well and he's very remorseful." (R-117-25)

Wolfe has no ill feeling towards the Bar and is sorry that he caused it.(R-36-10) There is no ill feeling towards the Baumgardners or criticizing of them.(R-36-20 & 37-2)

Wolfe has spent most of his time in the last four years trying to pay back his debts.(R-22-15) "He has my respect and I honor the efforts he's making to make everybody whole. He could have taken the easy way out, a straight liquidation." (R-118-1)

"Jody has put his life on hold, and continues to do so in $\ddot{y}$ to get the present market value out of these properties."(R-136-14) Rather than walking away he has spent four years demonstrating repentance trying to make this work. (R-99-17) "I think that's admirable. I choose to believe that it is an effort to make up for the ridiculousness of the error that he made before." (R -99-23) "He has learned a lesson that is not imaginable, $\ddot{y}$ that he did wrong, $\ddot{y}$ It almost killed him. He developed a heart problem due to the stress."(R-141-25 & 142-2)

As set forth by Wolfe's bankruptcy reorganization attorney, for three years during the reorganization he has seen very few people experience the stress from the embarrassment and the humiliation due to the Bar suspension and poor financial condition. "Notwithstanding the extreme pressure that you were under, not once did you suggest that your case be handled in other than a straight forward, ethical and honest manner. Your exemplary character during a time of extreme financial and personal pressure would indicate to me that you possess the moral character necessary for the practice of law."(Petition Exhibit 8/10)

When questioned about his Baumgardner Trust loan activity the Petitioner made full disclosure to the Baumgardners in two reports, dated in December 1994 and February 1995, (Hearing Exhibits 6 and 7) that were received by the beneficiaries and are attached to the complaint that William Baumgardner filed.

(Hearing Exhibit 8)

Prior to the Baumgardner suit being filed in March of 1995 Wolfe signed personal notes in 1991 on trust loans to Leftcoast Apparel, Inc. after the corporation went under.

The notes contained a provision that Wolfe was personally liable for attorney fees. (Hearing Exhibit 7-report attaches note copies.) Wolfe paid \$154,868.01 in interest on the notes prior to the trial of the William Baumgardner case.(Petition for reinstatement, paragraph 7, Appendix 6)

Wolfe told Richard Baumgardner he was sorry and volunteered to resign as trustee.(R-27-4) At mediation of the case Wolfe's lawyer on his behalf gave an extensive apology.(R-29-7)

The Baumgardner Trust had a 706 value of 732,949.20 and required annual distribution of \$73,296.92. (Exhibit 4 page 2 attached to the Petition, Appendix 6) Wolfe served as trustee from February 1980 until he resigned in July of 1995 two weeks before the Baumgardner trial. (R-229-13) All required trust annual distributions of 73,296.92 were made for the 15 years and six months Wolfe served as trustee. (R-232-7 & 229-7)

At the time that Wolfe resigned as trustee, the trust had \$42,000 cash, a \$60,000 mortgage receivable(R-71-23) and notes receivable of \$671,000 from Wolfe.(R-71-23)

In addition to the \$102,000 in trust assets turned over to the new trustee, Wolfe paid in full settlement an amount of \$850,000, which was \$179,000 more than the amount of the notes he

signed. (Full release from the Baumgardners and the Trust, Exhibit 4 introduced at hearing, Appendix 7)

The suit filed in March of 1995 by William Baumgardner on behalf of the trust resulted in a judgment dated July 23, 1996 based on a tort theory of \$1,500,000 and \$3,000,000 putative. (Hearing exhibit 5, Appendix 8) This judgment was appealed. (Hearing exhibit 5, Appendix 8) There was never a state appellate court decision fixing the amount due from Wolfe.

The settlement was part of the reorganization plan of Wolfe, which was approved by the Baumgardners, the Baumgardner Trust trustee, and the Federal Bankruptcy Court. (Hearing exhibit 3, Appendix 7).

Wolfe made attempts after the failed settlement negotiations at arbitration to settle the case before trial. A letter of December 7, 1995 was sent to the three trust beneficiaries inviting settlement. The letter stated he had dismissed his attorney who brought up bankruptcy and that he wanted to do every thing to settle and avoid bankruptcy and wanted to pay the Trust rather than lawyers. (Hearing-Exhibit 1, Appendix 9)

Wolfe sent a detailed letter dated February 1, 1996 offering several settlement options. The letter set forth all the assets and liabilities of Wolfe and offered to give the trust whatever assets they wanted, so long as enough was left to pay Wolfe's other creditors. (Hearing Exhibit 2, Appendix 10)

After the trial Wolfe appealed and filed for a Chapter 11

reorganization. Wolfe tried to avoid filing under the Bankruptcy Law. Attorney Rogers, the attorney for William Baumgardner, stated that Mr. Wolfeÿ"sincerely did not want to declare bankruptcy."(R-155-8) Mr. Wolfe filed for a reorganization in November, 1996, to stop the foreclosure sale of two different properties as one unit." "If the Island property was lost, then there wouldn't be enough assets to pay all the creditors, including the Baumgardners." (R-25-4 to 11)

In order to pay his creditors, Wolfe waived his Homestead Exemption. (Hearing Exhibit 3, Appendix 11)

Wolfe still owes his other creditors a net of over \$850,000. The \$ 1,180,629.20 set forth in the Petition includes an amount that Wolfe has inherited from his Mother's estate.

The amount due is after payments through real estate transfers of over \$1,500,000 to mortgage holders, resulting in a loss of over \$600,000 to Wolfe. A cash payment of \$850,000 was made to the Baumgardner Trust from a sale of the family farm. A cash payment of \$150,000 was made to Gills for a release of the Island through funds borrowed from Wolfe's brother. (Hearing Exhibit 3, Appendix 11) The creditors not yet paid have agreed to the plan of reorganization giving Wolfe up to five years to pay the debt plus interest, and Wolfe has been discharged from bankruptcy. (Appendix 11) The Bar investigation report in record confirms their agreement in great detail.

The Florida Bar stipulated that Wolfe has the assets to pay

his creditors and this was made part of the pre trial order. (Appendix 3)

The record shows that Wolfe has engaged in extensive community work and pro bono work prior to suspension. Wolfe was active for 9 years in the Clearwater Jaycees, serving on committees, and as legal counsel and vice president.(R-44-20) Wolfe served on the Clearwater Downtown Association giving free legal services for 8 to 10 years and also served as co-chairman of both the traffic and convention committee. (R-45-3) Wolfe did pro bono work for the Clearwater Yacht Club and served on their board for 7 years and on the board of trustees for 5 years. (R-45-15)

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