#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JOE RAWLS WOLFE,	Case No. 94,573
	TFB No. 99-10,581(6E)(HRE)
Petitioner,	
VS.	
THE FLORIDA BAR,	
Respondent.	

# ANSWER BRIEF OF THE FLORIDA BAR

THOMAS E. DEBERG Assistant Staff Counsel The Florida Bar Suite C-49 Tampa Airport, Marriott Hotel Tampa, Florida 33607 (813)875-9821 Florida Bar No. 521515

##

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

#### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

A hearing upon Petitioner's petition for reinstatement following a three-year suspension was held before the Honorable Claudia R. Isom, Referee. She found that Petitioner had not established his unimpeachable character as required, and she recommended that he not be reinstated (RR, p. 4). Petitioner seeks to have this Court overturn the referee's findings of fact and her recommendation.

Petitioner has fallen far short of meeting the heavy burden required to overrule the referee's findings of fact and recommendation. Further, he has not proven his rehabilitation as required in order to permit his reinstatement to the Bar.

Petitioner was suspended following very serious misconduct, including a pattern of financial self-dealing to the detriment of those to whom he had a fiduciary duty. The Petitioner was an attorney for and a friend of the Baumgardner family when he was appointed Trustee of the Baumgardner Trust. The original value of the Trust was over \$700,000 in 1976 (GP, p.2), and rose to over \$1 million by 1987 (T, p. 157). Petitioner embarked upon a course of improperly using the Trust funds as his own. He loaned, "mortgaged" and otherwise transferred Trust funds to himself and his businesses. By 1993, the value of the Trust had fallen below \$200,000 (T, p. 159).

After Petitioner's misconduct was discovered and The Florida Bar had filed a complaint with this Court, Petitioner entered into a Conditional Guilty Plea for Consent Judgment. He received a three- year suspension from the practice of law (GP, p. 6).

Petitioner has demonstrated that he lacks remorse for what he has done to others. His self interest continues to take precedence, as shown by his less than stellar efforts to compensate those whom he has harmed. Petitioner's self-dealing resulted in devastating consequences to the beneficiaries of the Baumgardner Trust. This was especially true for a beneficiary who was forced t sell his home because of the unethical conduct of the Petitioner. Petitioner, if truly remorseful, would have done everything in his power to make those whom he had harmed whole. He did not. Petitioner fought tenaciously in a civil action to avoid full compensation, used delay tactics, and even engaged in questionable practices regarding a supposed recording of a mortgage. Throughout this entire sordid tale, Petitioner has refused to truly acknowledge his moral guilt or to express true contrition.

The findings of fact and recommendations of the Referee should be adopted.

Petitioner should not be reinstated to The Florida Bar.

#### **ARGUMENT**

The Report of Referee should be upheld and the Petitioner should not be reinstated to the practice of law.

The party challenging a Referee's recommendation in a reinstatement proceeding has the burden of showing that the report of the referee was erroneous, unlawful, or unjustified. The Florida Bar re: Grusmark, 662 So.2d 1235,1236 (Fla. 1995); The Florida Bar v. Ross, 732 So.2d 1037,1042 (Fla. 1999); The Florida Bar v. Sweeney, 730 So.2d 1269,1271 (Fla. 1999).

The referee's findings of fact carry with them a presumption of correctness and shall be upheld unless shown to be clearly erroneous or without support in the record.

The Florida Bar v. Rue, 663 So. 2d 1320 (Fla. 1995).

The burden to the challenging party is to show that there was no evidence to support the findings of fact or that the record evidence clearly contradicts the Referee's conclusions. The Florida Bar v. Cibula, 725 So.2d 360,362 (Fla. 1999).

If the Referee's findings are supported by competent substantial evidence, the Supreme Court is precluded from reweighing the evidence and substituting its judgment for that of the Referee. <u>The Florida Bar v. Cox.</u>, 718 So.2d 788 (Fla, 1998).

It is respectfully submitted that the findings and recommendation of the referee are supported by the record and are not clearly erroneous, unlawful nor unjustified.

The Petitioner has failed to meet the burden required to overturn the findings of fact

and recommendation of the Hon. Claudia R. Isom, Referee. It was she, after all, who observed the witnesses first hand and was in the unique position of being able to assess their credibility. Please see: <u>The Florida Bar v. Vernell</u>, 721 So.2d, 705, 708 (Fla. 1998); <u>The Florida Bar v. Lecznar</u>, 690 So.2d 1284, 1287 (Fla. 1997). She was able to determine that remorse was inadequate, and restitution to beneficiaries was coerced and insufficient.

The burden of proving rehabilitation is on the Petitioner. When seeking reinstatement or readmission, the individual involved "bears the heavy burden of establishing rehabilitation." The Florida Board of Bar Examiners re: W.H.V.D., 653 So.2d 386, 388 (Fla. 1995); The Florida Bar v. Janssen, 643 So.2d 1065,1066 (Fla. 1994). Please also see The Florida Board of Bar Examiners re: J.C.B, 655 So.2d 79 (Fla. 1995). As this Court stated in The Florida Bar, Petition of Rubin, 323 So.2d 257,258 (Fla. 1975), at page 258:

The right to practice law is conferred or withheld on the basis of factors not customarily considered in the licensing of tradesmen or businessmen. Because of a lawyer's interaction with the public, a wide range of factors may be considered in determining whether an individual shall be allowed to enter or resume this profession. An attorney once removed or suspended must demonstrate rehabilitation, and the burden of doing so requires more than recitations of intent and contrition. Unsatisfied judgments, and a failure to acknowledge judgment liens in a personal financial statement filed for the purpose of demonstrating reinstatement, are antithetical to an affirmative showing of rehabilitation. They do not demonstrate that a lawyer suspended for "violations of his oath as an attorney" has progressed in his understanding of

professional responsibility to the point that he may now be reposed with the public's trust. (Emphasis added)

Respondent grounds his argument for reinstatement upon the testimony that he is, allegedly, a good lawyer and person. Petitioner's witnesses did address Petitioner's reputation in the community and legal profession. Attorney Burke said that Petitioner would be considered by him to be honest and trustworthy, but for this event (T, p. 92). Attorney Robinson said he was surprised by Respondent's problems and disappointed (T, p. 104). Petitioner's legal assistant said that Petitioner is as honest as they come (a rather said statement about "they"), and that during his entire career as an attorney his actions were above reproach (P's exh. 8/8, p. 2). Frank Kunnen talked for Petitioner's moralistic mannerisms (P's exh. 8/9). Several witnesses talked about his superb legal abilities. He points to the fact that he has obtained a release from the beneficiaries of the Baumgardner Trust. But the law requires much more from a person seeking reinstatement or readmission to the Bar following disciplinary transgressions than evidence people were surprised by his misdeeds, that he has "moralistic mannerisms", or has good legal skills.

For example, in <u>The Florida Bar re: Hessler</u>, 493 So.2d 1029 (Fla. 1986), this Court addressed a case in which the attorney had misappropriated funds from an estate. The Court decided that the attorney would not be reinstated absent full restitution. Full restitution was required in another case as well, when the attorney

had been disbarred for failing to turn over client funds. This Court declined to readmit the individual until after the client had been reimbursed. The Florida Bar v. Rodman, 474 So.2d 1176 (Fla. 1985). See also The Florida Bar v. Blalock, 325 So.2d 401 (Fla. 1976).

The above decisions support the Referee's recommendation that Petitioner should not be reinstated. Petitioner made partial payment to the Baumgardner Trust, for the damage he caused, but never made the Trust whole. Even that partial payment came years after his improper conduct took place, and not until a civil lawsuit, trial and adverse judgment had been rendered against him. The partial payment made by Petitioner was far less than the actual losses to the beneficiaries, and even lower than the jury award against him. The fact that he received a "release" in exchange for that settlement does not negate the fact that he failed to make full restitution for his damages.

In <u>The Florida Board of Bar Examiners re: J.C.B.</u>, infra, this Court denied readmission under facts similar to the instant case. J.C.B. had been disciplined for improperly using funds belonging to his client. In addition, he had failed to satisfy outstanding debts, in part because he turned down high paying job opportunities which would have enabled him to do so. That is not unlike Petitioner, who could have sold his properties for hundreds of thousands of dollars in order to recompense the beneficiaries, but elected to not do so. When faced with outstanding judgments to

creditors, J.C.B. paid some, but left prior judgments unsatisfied. In the instant case, Petitioner gave precedence to paying off his own business obligations over repaying monies owed to the beneficiaries to whom he owed a fiduciary duty. In <u>J.C.B.</u> the former attorney, again like Petitioner, refused to truly admit the wrongfulness of his conduct. Instead he characterized it as mere carelessness and gross negligence, never admitting that he had stolen client funds. In the case sub judice, Petitioner has repeatedly minimized his actions as "mistakes", and has failed to take moral responsibility for what he has done.

In <u>J.C.B.</u>, Id. at 80, the Court clearly indicated that a former attorney seeking readmission must meet the requirement of showing positive action on his part to prove his rehabilitation. In denying his application, this Court stated: "In seeking readmission, J.C.B. bears the heavy burden of establishing rehabilitation. See <u>The Florida Bar re: Janssen</u>, 643 So.2d 1065, 1066 (Fla. 1994): <u>The Florida Bar re: Jahn</u>, 559 So.2d 1089,1090 (Fla. 1990)."

The Court in <u>J.C.B.</u> further commented that an applicant such as J.C.B. who affirmatively asserts rehabilitation from prior conduct bearing adversely on character and fitness for admission must show rehabilitation by:

such things as a person's occupation, religion, community or civic service. Merely showing that an individual is now living as and doing those things he or she should have done throughout life, although necessary to prove rehabilitation, does not prove that

the individual has undertaken a useful and constructive place in society. The requirement of positive action is appropriate for applicants for admission to the bar because service to one's community is an implied obligation of members of the bar. Supra at 82. (Emphasis added).

Petitioner in the instant case was determined to have not shown true contrition.

One factor noted by the referee was lack of community or civil service. That was not the only negative aspect of the Petitioner's conduct. It is the referee's province to weigh the attitude and degree of contrition of the applicant. The Florida Bar Petition of Rubin, Supra. Referee Isom did so, and found Petitioner lacking.

In weighing whether the Petitioner has met the heavy burden of establishing unimpeachable character, the Court is necessarily faced with applying a subjective standard. Merely engaging in a laundry list of "good acts" during the period of suspension should not, by itself, be sufficient to establish good, unimpeachable, character. If it did then all suspended or disbarred attorneys could be reinstated by the simple expedient of mechanically and without sincerity or remorse engaging in certain enumerated types of conduct during the period involved.

Webster's Third New International Dictionary, G & C Merriman Company, 1976, at page 2499 defines "unimpeachable" as "that which is not to be called into question, that which is exempt from liability to accusations, that which is irreproachable or blameless." Petitioner's conduct does not meet that definition.

When the adjective "unimpeachable" is utilized to modify the word "character", as this, our highest court has done in establishing the lofty standards necessary to permit reinstatement to our profession, one realizes the truly heavy burden, which Petitioner is required to satisfy. Unquestionably, the standards which a petitioner seeking reinstatement to the Bar must meet impose a "heavy burden" to establish rehabilitation. See <u>The Florida Bar v. Janssen</u>, Supra; and <u>The Florida Bar</u> re: Timson, 301 So. 2d 448, 449 (Fla. 1975). This is as it should be. Has Petitioner established that his moral and ethical qualities are beyond question? Has he shown that his self-discipline and judgment are now beyond reproach? Has Petitioner proven that the complex of his moral and habitual ethical traits are such that they can now be referred to as "excellent" or of a high standard? Has Petitioner met the "heavy burden" imposed upon him by the settled law in this state, of showing that he is now of an "unimpeachable character". No, he has not.

It is helpful in evaluating Respondent's character to review his own testimony before the Referee. Under cross-examination, he did not acknowledge his own conduct to be highly improper or unethical. He did not admit his conduct was the misappropriation of money entrusted to him in a fiduciary capacity. His version of his inexcusable conduct in misappropriating hundreds of thousands of dollars from the sanctity of a trust, his hiding his unethical activities over a long period of time from the trust beneficiaries, his ravishing and greatly devaluing the assets of the trust, his

deceitful gesture of allegedly giving a mortgage relating to some of the misappropriated funds and then failing to record it, his giving his own unsecured promissory notes for huge amounts of the money which he had used without the knowledge or consent of the trust beneficiaries, and for devastating the life of a beneficiary who relied upon the trust income and was forced to sell his home and other assets, can best be described as a half-hearted attempt at exculpation by a man who truly does not appreciate the severity of the many wrongful and unethical acts he engaged in, or does not care except for how he himself was harmed by being caught.

Petitioner describes his conduct as a "mistake" in "borrowing" money from the trust for several years (T, p.70), a "philosophical mistake" involving his business approach (T, p.68). He does get around to calling it a "tragic mistake" (T, p.70).

Petitioner could have learned much from the person who was most harmed by Petitioner's misconduct, William Baumgardner. Mr. Baumgardner testified that as a direct result of the Petitioner's unethical behavior, Mr. Baumgardner was forced to undertake the type of personally and emotionally difficult, but honorable conduct, which to this day the Petitioner has refused to engage in. Mr. Baumgardner sold his home and liquidated other assets in order to pay his creditors after the trust had been depleted by Petitioner. He acted honorably. However, Petitioner chose not to sell land he owned to the county for over seven hundred thousand dollars. He chose not to sell his yacht and utilize the funds to help make his victims whole, claiming he

continued to hold onto it because his work on it would eventually lead to a higher sale price. Petitioner admitted that even after he had placed it on the market and there were no takers at his asking price, he did not lower the price in an attempt to obtain funds to set his defalcations right. Self interest prevailed over obligation to those harmed.

Petitioner has attempted to distort and downplay his conduct in the lawsuit brought by the Trust beneficiaries and the eventual settlement of that civil suit. A judgment of \$4.5 million dollars was rendered against Petitioner. It took years of litigation before that verdict was obtained. And even then Petitioner appealed, still fighting to not be held fully responsible for his inexcusable conduct. During the trial itself Respondent executed a mortgage of \$500,000 in favor of his mother and recorded it while still having never recorded the mortgage he gave for some of the trust funds which he took.

In <u>The Florida Bar re: Jahn</u>, supra at 1090, this Court stated that: *Reinstatement is more a matter of grace than of right and is dependent upon*rehabilitation."(emphasis added). Petitioner has not established his rehabilitation as required by the law of this state; the grace of reinstatement has not been earned.

In <u>The Florida Bar v. Grusmark</u>, 662 So.2d 1235, 1236 (Fla. 1995) the Court reiterated that the Court may "...consider <u>all</u> aspects of Petitioner's character to determine present fitness to resume practice of law". In putting post discipline

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